
 
 

SPECIAL CABINET 
 

 Wednesday, 17th February, 2010 
to follow the Council Budget 
Meeting 
Council Chamber 

 
This meeting is open to the public 

 
 Members 

 
 Councillor Samuels (Leader) 

Councillor Dean, Cabinet Member for Environment 
and Transport 
Councillor Hannides, Cabinet Member for Leisure, 
Culture and Heritage 
Councillor Moulton, Cabinet Member for Resources 
and Workforce Planning 
Councillor Smith, Cabinet Member for Economic 
Development 
Councillor White, Cabinet Member for Adult Social 
Care and Health 
Councillor Williams, P, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Local Services 
Councillor Holmes, Cabinet Member for Children's 
Services and Learning 
Councillor Walker, Cabinet Member for 
Safeguarding Children and Youth Services 
 

 (QUORUM – 3) 
 

 Contacts 
 Cabinet Administrator 

Judy Cordell 
Tel: 023 8083 2766 
Email: judy.cordell@southampton.gov.uk  
 

  

 Assistant Chief Executive (Strategy)  
Joy Wilmot-Palmer 
Tel. 023 8083 4428 
Email: joy.wilmot-palmer@southampton.gov.uk 

  

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

BACKGROUND AND RELEVANT INFORMATION 
 

The Role of the Executive 
The Cabinet and individual Cabinet Members make 
executive decisions relating to services provided by the 
Council, except for those matters which are reserved for 
decision by the full Council and planning and licensing 
matters which are dealt with by specialist regulatory 
panels.  

Procedure / Public Representations 
Reports for decision by the Cabinet (Part A of the 
agenda) or by individual Cabinet Members (Part B 
of the agenda). Interested members of the public 
may, with the consent of the Cabinet Chair or the 
individual Cabinet Member as appropriate, make 
representations thereon. 

Executive Functions 
The specific functions for which the Cabinet and 
individual Cabinet Members are responsible are 
contained in Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution. Copies 
of the Constitution are available on request or from the 

City Council website, www.southampton.gov.uk  Smoking policy – The Council operates a no-
smoking policy in all civic buildings. 

The Forward Plan 
The Forward Plan is published on a monthly basis and 
provides details of all the key executive decisions to be 
made in the four month period following its publication. 
The Forward Plan is available on request or on the 
Southampton City Council website, 

www.southampton.gov.uk  
 

Mobile Telephones – Please turn off your mobile 
telephone whilst in the meeting.  
 
Fire Procedure – In the event of a fire or other 
emergency, a continuous alarm will sound and 
you will be advised, by officers of the Council, of 
what action to take.  

 
Key Decisions 
A Key Decision is an Executive Decision that is likely to 
have a significant  

• financial impact (£200,000 or more)  

• impact on two or more wards 

• impact on an identifiable community 
Decisions to be discussed or taken that are key 

decisions are denoted by a key symbol ( ) on the 
agenda.  
 

Access – Access is available for disabled people. 
Please contact the Cabinet Administrator who will 
help to make any necessary arrangements.  
 
 
 
Municipal Year Dates  (Mondays) 

2009 2010 

01 June 18 January 

29 June 1 February  

7 July  15 February  

27 July 15 March 

10 August 19 April 

07 September   

28 September  

26 October  

23 November  

21 December  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Implementation of Decisions  
Any Executive Decision may be “called-in” as part of the 
Council’s Overview and Scrutiny function for review and 
scrutiny.  The relevant Overview and Scrutiny Panel may 
ask the Executive to reconsider a decision, but does not 
have the power to change the decision themselves. 
 
Southampton City Council’s Six Priorities 
 

• Providing good value, high quality services 

• Getting the City working 

• Investing in education and training 

• Keeping people safe 

• Keeping the City clean and green 

• Looking after people 
 

 



 

 
CONDUCT OF MEETING 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 
The terms of reference of the Cabinet, and its 
Executive Members, are set out in Part 3 of the 
Council’s Constitution. 

BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED 
 
Only those items listed on the attached 
agenda may be considered at this 
meeting. 
 

RULES OF PROCEDURE 
 
The meeting is governed by the Executive 
Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of the 
Council’s Constitution. 
 
 

QUORUM 
 
The minimum number of appointed 
Members required to be in attendance 
to hold the meeting is 3. 
 

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 
 

Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, 
both the existence and nature of any “personal” or “prejudicial” interests they may have 
in relation to matters for consideration on this Agenda. 
 

 
PERSONAL INTERESTS 

 
A Member must regard himself or herself as having a personal interest in any matter:  

 
(i) if the matter relates to an interest in the Member’s register of interests; or 
(ii) if a decision upon a matter might reasonably be regarded as affecting to a greater 

extent than other Council Tax payers, ratepayers and inhabitants of the District, 
the wellbeing or financial position of himself or herself, a relative or a friend or:- 
(a) any employment or business carried on by such person; 
(b) any person who employs or has appointed such a person, any firm in which 

such a person is a partner, or any company of which such a person is a 
director; 

(c) any corporate body in which such a person has a beneficial interest in a 
class of securities exceeding the nominal value of £5,000; or 

(d) any body listed in Article 14(a) to (e) in which such a person holds a 
position of general control or management. 

 
A Member must disclose a personal interest. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cont/… 
 



 

 
Prejudicial Interests 

Having identified a personal interest, a Member must consider whether a member of the 
public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably think that the interest was 
so significant and particular that it could prejudice that Member’s judgement of the public 
interest. If that is the case, the interest must be regarded as “prejudicial” and the Member 
must disclose the interest and withdraw from the meeting room during discussion on the 
item. 
 
It should be noted that a prejudicial interest may apply to part or the whole of an item. 
 
Where there are a series of inter-related financial or resource matters, with a limited 
resource available, under consideration a prejudicial interest in one matter relating to that 
resource may lead to a member being excluded from considering the other matters 
relating to that same limited resource. 
 
There are some limited exceptions.  
 
Note:  Members are encouraged to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or his staff in 
Democratic Services if they have any problems or concerns in relation to the above. 

Principles of Decision Making 
 
All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:- 
 

• proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 

• due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 

• respect for human rights; 

• a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency; 

• setting out what options have been considered; 

• setting out reasons for the decision; and 

• clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 
 

In exercising discretion, the decision maker must: 
 

• understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to it.  
The decision-maker must direct itself properly in law; 

• take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the 
authority as a matter of legal obligation to take into account); 

• leave out of account irrelevant considerations; 

• act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good; 

• not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also known 
as the “rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle); 

• comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an annual 
basis.  Save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward 
funding are unlawful; and 

• act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness. 
 



 

 

AGENDA 

 

Agendas and papers are now available via the Council’s Website  

 
1 APOLOGIES     

 
 To receive any apologies.  

 
2 DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS     

 
 In accordance with the Local Government Act, 2000, and the Council’s Code of 

Conduct adopted on 16th May, 2007, Members to disclose any personal or 
prejudicial interests in any matter included on the agenda for this meeting. 

 

NOTE:  Members are reminded that, where applicable, they must complete the 
appropriate form recording details of any such interests and hand it to the 
Democratic Support Officer  
 

3 STATEMENT FROM THE LEADER     
 

4 PROPOSED COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS FOR SPECIAL CONSTABLES AND 
PERSONS OVER THE AGE OF 65  
 

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Resources and Workforce Planning, seeking 
approval to grant a 100% discount where a special constable resides and serves in 
the City of Southampton, attached.  
 
Tuesday, 9 February 2010 SOLICITOR TO THE COUNCIL 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

 1

DECISION-MAKER:  CABINET 

SUBJECT: PROPOSED COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS FOR 
SPECIAL CONSTABLES AND PERSONS OVER THE 
AGE OF 65 

DATE OF DECISION: 17 FEBRUARY 2010 

REPORT OF: CABINET MEMBER FOR RESOURCES 

AUTHOR: Name:  Alex Moore Tel: 023 80834853 

 E-mail: Alex.moore@southampton.gov.uk 

 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

N/A 

SUMMARY 

It is proposed to introduce a 100% council tax discount for people who live and work 
as Special Constables within the City to assist in meeting the Council’s objective to 
improving community safety and reducing crime and disorder, and this report outlines 
the details of this.   

It is also proposed to continue the 10% council tax discount for persons over the age 
of 65 introduced in 2009/10, subject to the agreed criteria as shown in Appendix 2, as 
previously agreed by Cabinet on the 18th February 2009, Decision No: CAB155 - 
02/2009.  

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) That Cabinet considers the considerations and issues set out in this 
report and determines whether or not they wish to implement a 
Council Tax reduction scheme under S13A of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992. 

 (ii) If Cabinet chooses to implement such a Council Tax reduction 
scheme, the qualifying criteria in respect of the “Special Constable” 
element of the Scheme for 2010/11 and onward be that the reduction 
should be available to persons who are:- 

  (a) Special Constables on or after 1st April 2010; and 

  (b) Reside in a property within Southampton where there is a 
liability for Council Tax and serve as a Special Constable 
within Southampton. 

 (iii) If Cabinet chooses to implement such a Council Tax reduction 
scheme, the level of reduction in respect of the “Special Constable” 
element should be 100%. 

 (iv) If Cabinet chooses to implement such a Council Tax reduction 
scheme, to approve the qualification criteria for the discount as set 
out in Appendix 1. 

 (v) To authorise the Executive Director of Neighbourhoods to take any 
further action necessary to implement the proposed scheme. 

Agenda Item 4



 2

 (vi) To authorise the Executive Director of Resources to take any further 
action necessary to administer the scheme once approved by the 
Hampshire Police Authority (HPA) and Home Office.  

 (vii) To continue the 10% council tax discount for persons over the age of 
65, subject to the agreed criteria as shown in Appendix 2 for 2010/11 
and onwards.  

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1 To assist in meeting the Council’s objective of improving community safety 
and reducing crime and disorder. 

CONSULTATION 

2 Legal Services and Finance have been consulted on this report and the report 
itself is based around Counsel’s opinion which was sought last year in respect 
of the potential discounts that are being offered. 

3 The Neighbourhoods Directorate are in the process of consulting with the 
Police and Hampshire Police Authority. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

4 Alternative funding options to reduce crime and disorder may not provide a 
direct incentive for potential recruits to the post of Special Constables, 
whereas the proposed council tax discount reduction scheme does. 

DETAIL 

5 Officers were requested by the Executive to look in to how a 100% council tax 
discount may be offered to Special Constables who live and serve within the 
City, meeting the criteria outlined in Appendix 1, and this report recommends 
the introduction of this. 

6 The Executive’s proposals were included within their major general fund 
revenue budget and council tax proposals.  These were considered and 
approved by the Executive on 27th October 2008 (Item A17:  2009/10 General 
Fund Revenue Budget and Council Tax – Major Proposals for Consultation). 

7 The Solicitor to the Council sought Leading Counsel’s opinion on this 
proposal and this has informed the legal advice to the Council, which is set 
out within this report. 

8 The Solicitor to the Council advises that this group of council tax payers would 
constitute a “class of case” within the meaning of Section13A of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992  (the relevant legislation for defining a council 
tax discount), and that the exercise of these powers is a function of the 
Cabinet. 

9 However, as with all decisions, the decision must not only be lawful, but it 
must be taken for lawful reasons.  Councillors do not act improperly or 
unlawfully if, exercising public powers for a public purpose for which such 
powers were conferred, they hope that such exercise would earn the gratitude 
and support of the electorate and thus strengthen their electoral position. The 
law would indeed part company with the realities of party politics if it were to 
hold otherwise. However, a public power is not exercised lawfully if it is not 
exercised for a public purpose for which the power was conferred, to promote 



 3

the electoral advantage of a political party. The power at issue in the present 
case is section 13A Local Government Finance Act 1992. Thus the local 
authority could determine to exercise this power so as to reduce Council Tax 
liability in respect of one or more classes of persons to promote any public 
purpose for which such power was conferred, but could not lawfully do so for 
the purpose of promoting the electoral advantage of any party represented on 
the council. 

A very clear statement of this principle is to be found in Wade and Forsyth, 
Administrative Law (8th Edition, 2000) at pp 356-357. 

 “Statutory power conferred for public purposes is conferred as it were 
upon trust, not absolutely – that is to say, it can validly be used only in 
the right and proper way which Parliament when conferring it is 
presumed to have intended.” 

Therefore,  the Council,  and members making the decision,  must apply their 
minds properly to the relevant law, the relevant considerations and issues, 
and dismiss from its mind, irrelevant considerations and issues.  

10 To assist in this process, the Solicitor to the Council with the assistance of 
Leading Counsel, established the key questions that members should 
evaluate in reaching such a decision, and these are detailed below: 

11 ‘The Council needs to think about what the likely cost of the proposed 
discount will be, and the impact of granting that discount either upon 
the council tax generally, or upon the provision of services’ 

12 Members need to bear in mind the effect of granting any reduction on those 
who will not benefit from it.  Clearly that will be either a marginal loss of 
services or a marginal increase in council tax to pay for the reduction, though 
in practice it will be impossible to identify which.  However, it may assist if the 
effect is put in monetary terms, in which case total costs of awarding a 100% 
discount  for Special Constables would be a full rebate at Band D of 
£1,208.97 at an overall estimated cost of £0.1M. 

13 The major budget proposals for consultation were developed in order to 
support the delivery of the Executive’s Policy Priorities which were included 
as an appendix to the Cabinet report in October 2008.  The consultation 
process was designed to capture views regarding the policy priorities and 
council tax levels in order to inform the development of the Executive’s 
proposed budget for publication in January 2009. 

14 Amendments have also been made as a result of the consultation process 
and taking into account the impact of the economic climate.  The Executive’s 
draft budget now presented for consideration to Full Council fully takes 
account of the Executive’s policy priorities and proposes a 2.50% Council Tax 
increase for 2010/11. 

15 Therefore, were the proposed discount for Special Constables to be removed 
from the budget the Executive would reduce the recommended council tax 
increase by the funding released of £0.1M, which equates to around 0.12%, 
bringing the proposed council tax increase down to 2.38%. 

 

 



 4

16 ‘The Council needs to think about precisely how the class to benefit 
from the discount should be defined’   

17 Appendix 1 outlines the proposed criteria for granting the discount. It should 

be noted that the Solicitor to the Council advises that the definition should be 
such as will allow for the discount to be applied efficiently (which includes 
considerations of achieving take-up by those entitled to it) and without 
excessive administrative burdens’. 

18 The proposal is to introduce a council tax discount of 100% for Special 
Constables who serve and live within the City.  

19 Ministerial approval must be obtained before any such discount can be 
introduced and the Police Authority have submitted a Proposal, see Appendix 
5, for Home Office consideration.  

20 The Solicitor to the Council advises that there are four questions and issues 
which should be considered before deciding whether to introduce the discount 
and these are now considered in the same order: 

21 ‘What is the evidence that there is a problem with the recruitment and 
retention of special constables to work in the city that needs attention?’ 

22 The Police Authority stated in their submission to the Home Office last year 
that they would like to have in post in excess of 85 Special Constables in 
order to achieve their desired impact on increasing levels of public 
reassurance across the City in relation to Criminal Damage and Anti-Social 
Behaviour. At present they have 60 Constables in place and as this role is 
manned through volunteers only, with no form of financial remuneration, 
increasing and maintaining numbers is an issue. 

23 ‘Why is it thought that a council tax reduction is a better means of 
addressing that problem than whatever the available alternatives may 
be?’ 

24 The discount is likely to have a direct financial benefit to the individual 
concerned. As such it is hoped that recruitment would improve as this would 
be a ‘real’ incentive. This is certainly the experience in Hull where a similar 
scheme has been in operation since April 2005. Alternatives to address the 
issues identified in above could include additional Accredited Community 
Support Officers, but the costs would be considerably more than granting the 
discount, or by direct grants to the Police Authority which may not have the 
resulting impact of more Uniforms on the beat, which is often the fact that 
reassures residents. 

25 ‘Is this an appropriate approach given that, by definition, the Council 
can only extend the benefit of a discount to special constables living in 
the city, whereas (it may be) significant numbers of actual or potential 
special constables may work in Southampton but live in other local 
authority areas?’ 

26 The Police Authority indicated last year that there are very few instances of 
Special Constables who live in the City requesting that they work outside of 
the City. In most cases those who volunteer want to ‘make a difference’ to 
their City. Those who do make such a request to work elsewhere would not 



 5

be eligible for the discount anyway. Equally there are very few instances of 
those who serve in the City but live outside 

27 ‘Is the Council satisfied that sound reasons exist for singling out special 
constables as opposed to other persons in relation to whom there is a 
public interest in a sufficient supply of workers which may coupled with 
a recruitment and retention problem (say, for example, speech 
therapists or science teachers)?’   

28 The Council recognises that there are many groups of volunteers who provide 
services to the community on an unpaid basis. However many of these would 
be difficult to define for the purposes of administration in terms of defining and 
awarding a council tax discount. Special Constables are already defined by 
the Police Authority and contribute directly to the Council’s aim of ‘improving 
community safety and reducing crime and disorder’. 

29 Overall this is felt to be a relatively low cost option to assist in achieving a 
reduction in crime across the City. 

30 The Neighbourhoods Directorate are currently liaising with the Police and 
HPA in order to ensure that the proposal can be considered by the HPA and 
Home Office. If it receives approval the Director of Resources can proceed to 
administer the scheme. 

Older Persons Discount 

31 On the 18th February 2009, the Executive approved the introduction of a 10% 
council tax discount for persons over the age of 65 introduced in 2009/10. It is 
now proposed that the scheme continues for 2010/2011, and onwards, 
always of course recognising that in future years, the Executive may choose 
to vary or withdraw the scheme. The proposed criteria for 2010/2011 and 
onwards are the same as agreed in 2009, and set out in Appendix 2. The 
issues raised and considered by the Executive when they made their decision 
remain valid, and can be viewed in the 2009 report at:  

Special Cabinet Meeting Papers 18 February 2009  

FINANCIAL/RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital  

32 N/A 

Revenue 

33 The cost of introducing a discount for Special Constables is estimated to be 
£100,000 based on the target of recruiting 85 Constables for the City.  The 
actual cost will of course vary depending on the number of Constables in post 
during the year and the band of house in which they live. 

34 The cost of continuing the 10% discount for persons over the age of 65 is 
estimated to be £900,000.  

Property 

35 N/A 

Other 

36 N/a 



 

 6

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

37 The powers are contained in Section 13A of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992. This section, inserted by s 76 of the Local Government Act 2003, 
provides that where a person is liable to pay Council Tax in respect of any 
chargeable dwelling and any day, the billing authority: 

“. . . may reduce the amount which he is liable to pay . . . to such 
extent as it thinks fit.” 

By s 13A(3) it is provided that the power: 

“... may be exercised in relation to particular cases or by 
determining a class of case in which liability is to be reduced to 
an extent provided by the determination.” 

What the Council is now contemplating is that the s 13A power should be 
exercised so as reduce the Council Tax liability of a class of person.  The 
class would consist of those working as special constables within the city, 
and it is contemplated that they would enjoy a 100% discount. 

This group of beneficiaries would constitute a “class of case” within the 
meaning of s 13A, and so the power to reduce the Council Tax in principle 
exists. 

Other Legal Implications:  

38 1 As with any discretionary power, the power to make reductions is one 
which must be exercised consistently with Wednesbury principles.  
That is to say, it must be exercised in a manner which is rational, for a 
proper purpose, and having regard to all legally relevant and no legally 
irrelevant considerations.  Were the decision to grant a reduction ever 
to be challenged by way of judicial review, it is likely that a 
considerable amount of judicial restraint would be exercised when 
considering that challenge, for two reasons.  One is that s 13A itself is 
so very open-textured – it is a discretion expressed in the broadest 
possible terms, with nothing in either the language or the surrounding 
statutory context to suggest any particular limits upon the way in which 
the power is to be exercised.  The other is that this is very much the 
field of policy decisions not apt for close judicial scrutiny, involving 
choices about how to allocate Tax burdens and how to strike the 
balance between Tax and services.  Therefore, in principle the right 
way to challenge such a decision will normally be through the ballot 
box rather than the courts. 

 2 If a decision to make the proposed reduction under s 13A were rational 
in a Wednesbury sense, it is unlikely that it could be successfully 
challenged on any other basis.  There are cases which indicate that a 
failure to treat like cases alike may be a ground of challenge.  
However, when regard is had to other cases, it is clear that in deciding 
whether cases are indeed alike, the decision-maker enjoys a margin of 
judgment which amounts to something not very (if at all) different from 
a conventional Wednesbury test.  The cases cannot be taken as 
outlawing any policy which operates by way of broad classes for 
genuine reasons of practicality, even though that means that some 



 7

cases will be treated alike, or differently, when that would not be 
justified if the decision had been based upon an examination of their 
individual facts.    

 3 There is also the question of the Human Rights Act 1998.  It probably is 
the case that Article 1 of the 1st Protocol is engaged here, so that the 
article 14 anti-discrimination provision is in principle in play.  However, 
it is undoubtedly also the case, on the authorities, that when it comes 
to the question of justification, a wide margin of discretion will be 
allowed to the Council in a matter such as this – essentially for the 
same reasons set out above.  In practice, the application of the Human 
Rights Act in this will not mean anything more than that the decision 
may be scrutinised with slightly greater intensity than traditional 
Wednesbury reasonableness, but still falling a very long way short of 
the court substituting its own view of the matter. 

 4 Having said all that, there must of course be some proper justification 
for conferring a financial benefit on a substantial class of local 
Taxpayers, but not on others, and for doing so in circumstances where 
the ultimate consequence must necessarily be either that others pay 
more, or that services are reduced from what they might otherwise be, 
or both.  That is bound to be so.  Even if the benefit is initially funded 
from reserves and the reserves are never replenished, the fact is that 
those reserves could otherwise have been used to fund better services 
or a reduced Council Tax for all.  The number of special constables is 
too small for their discount to have a significant impact on others.  But 
even in relation to them a rational and proper justification is required. 

 5 In relation to the proposed discount for special constables,  

  the questions to be asked are what is the Council trying to achieve, is 
this the appropriate way to achieve it compared with alternatives that 
may exist, and what is the likely impact of the proposal?  The thinking 
here is less to do with special constables being less able to pay 
Council Tax than other people, and more to do with the perceived 
desirability of creating an incentive for people to become and remain 
special constables.  In principle, this is not an improper purpose for 
exercising the s 13A power.   However, the Council would need to ask 
itself, in particular: 

  (i) What is the evidence that there is a problem with the recruitment 
and retention of special constables to work in the city that needs 
attention? 

  (ii) Why is it thought that a Council Tax reduction is a better means 
of addressing that problem than whatever the available 
alternatives may be? 

  (iii) Is this an appropriate approach given that, by definition, the 
Council can only extend the benefit of a discount to special 
constables living in the city, whereas (it may be) significant 
numbers of actual or potential special constables may work in 
Southampton but live in other local authority areas? 



 8

  (iv) Is the Council satisfied that sound reasons exist for singling out 
special constables as opposed to other persons in relation to 
whom there is a public interest in a sufficient supply of workers 
which may coupled with a recruitment and retention problem 
(say, for example, speech therapists or science teachers)?  Such 
sound reasons might of course be found in factors such as 
difficulty in identifying members of another group, or the fact that 
the numbers within another group would make the cost of a 
discount for its members unacceptable. 

 The Position of the Precepting Authorities 

 6 The Council as billing authority funds the cost of any local discount 
granted pursuant to s 13A, and the reduction in Council Tax income 
resulting from the discount will not fall to be passed on to the Council’s 
two precepting authorities, the Hampshire Fire and Rescue Authority 
and the Hampshire Police Authority.  This is achieved by the directions 
made by the Secretary of State pursuant to ss 98(4) and 98(5) of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988 and set out in Annex B to ODPM 
Council Tax information letter 7/2003 of 27 November 2003.  The effect 
of the directions is that during the financial year the amount “lost” by 
the discount is transferred to the collection fund from the general fund, 
so that there is in this respect no shortfall in the collection fund which 
would go to reduce the amounts paid by the billing authority to the 
precepting authority.  Then, at the end of the financial year, Directions 
CT98(4)/31 and CT98(4)/32 require an adjusting payment to be 
transferred from the collection fund to the general fund. 

 The Decision-Making Process  

 7 The decision whether or not to grant a reduction under s 13A is an 
executive function.  There is nothing in the Local Government Act 2000 
or in the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 
Regulations 2000 (SI 2000 No 2853 as amended – “the Regulations”) 
which would suggest otherwise. It is of course the case that the setting 
of the Council Tax and the Council’s budget is a function of the full 
Council: this follows from s 67 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 and r.2(11) of the Regulations, and is made explicit by rr. 4(9) 
and (10) of the Regulations. 

 8 Whilst the budget-setting decision and the s 13A reduction decision are 
legally quite distinct decisions , the former for the Full Council and the 
latter for the Executive, the reality is that they are intrinsically linked 
and inter-dependent.   

 9 If Full Council in setting the budget is in agreement with the Executive’s 
proposal for a s 13A discount for special Constables, then the budget 
and Council Tax would be set in a way which reflected that proposal.  
In other words, the total budgeted expenditure under various heads 
would be set at a level nominally less than would normally be possible 
at the level of Council Tax being set, reflecting the shared 
understanding that by virtue of the s 13A discount, the amount of 
Council Tax collected will be less than would otherwise be the case (or, 



 9

of course, the Council Tax itself might be set higher than it would 
otherwise have been, if there was no intention that the s 13A discount 
should result in reduced expenditure).  The Executive would then 
proceed during the year to spend at the levels contemplated in the 
budget. 

 10 But if Full Council did not agree with the Executive’s s 13A proposal, 
then it would presumably set the Council Tax and the budgeted 
expenditure under various heads at the level that it would otherwise 
have done.  The Executive would then be unable to implement the 
discount. 

 11 Therefore, whilst Full Council cannot as a matter of law preclude a 
decision by the Executive to grant a s 13A discount to Special 
Constables, by setting the budget in a certain way, the impact of that 
means that the Executive would not have the resources available 
(without reverting to Full Council, given virement limits and the like) to 
adopt a discount.  

 12 Conversely, and for completeness, the Executive cannot compel Full 
Council to set a higher level of Council Tax than would otherwise be 
the case by virtue of making clear that it intends to grant a s 13A 
discount.  Only the Full Council can decide what the level of Council 
Tax should be.  Full Council must as a matter of Wednesbury 
reasonableness take account of the Executive’s desire and intention to 
grant a reduction under s 13A, but it does not have to agree with or 
accept that intention.   

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

39 This report sets out the Executive’s proposed budget to Council which is 
being developed in line with the constitution and forms and integral part of 
budget and policy framework. 



 10

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Appendices  

1. Qualifying Criteria for Special Constables Council Tax Discount Scheme 

2. Qualifying Criteria for Older Persons Discount Scheme 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Background Documents 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 12A 
allowing document to be Exempt/Confidential 
(if applicable) 

1. Counsel’s Opinion  

2. Various Research information  

3. Cabinet Report and Appendices 18th February 
2009 – Item A01: Proposed Council Tax  

Discounts for Persons over the Age of 65 

 and Special Constables 

 

Background documents available for inspection at:       

FORWARD PLAN No:  KEY DECISION?  

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All 

 



 
Council Tax 
Qualifying Criteria for Special Constables Discount Scheme 
 
 
 

1. Discount is 100% 
 

2. Apply to all SCC/Police/Fire elements from 1st April 2010 
 

3. Work as a Special Constable based in the Southampton Operational 
Command Unit – information confirming dates of appointment, are to 
be supplied by the Police Authority and the discount can only be 
awarded once this is received and they meet the qualifying criteria. 

 
4. If they cease to be a Special Constable this is to be confirmed by the 

Police Authority and the discount shall cease from the relevant date. 
 

5. They live at an address within the SCC area 
 

6. Council Tax is payable at the address where they live, but they do not 
have to be the liable person.  

Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Council Tax 
Qualifying Criteria for Older Persons Discount Scheme 
 

1. Discount is 10% 
 

2. Apply to all SCC/Police/Fire elements 
 

3. Period applicable -  indefinitely 
 

4. Qualifying age is 65 at the 1st April 2009 
 

5. Proof of age is not required 
 

6. Must be the Council Tax payer on the bill ‘now’ 
 

7. All residents at the property must be 65+ 
 

8. If they reach 65 during the year can only qualify from the following 1st 
April  

 
9. If in receipt of Council Tax Benefit they do not qualify 

 
10. If they are in receipt of Council Tax Benefit on 1st April but 

subsequently loose it during the year they will be entitled to the 
discount from the day after benefit ceases 

 
11. If they are not in receipt of Council Tax Benefit at 1st April, qualify for 

Discount, but subsequently are awarded Benefit during the year, 
remove Discount from the date Benefit awarded 

 
12. If they move into the area during the year, meet the qualifying age, they 

have to wait until next 1st April to receive discount 
 

13. If they move within the area Discount automatically transferred 
 

14. Does not apply to Care/Residential homes 

Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Proposed Council Tax Discounts for Special Constables and persons over the age of 65
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2


